IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2007-CA-02226

JULVANNA, LLC, A MISSISSIPPI LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY

APPELLANT

VS.

ECONOMY INNS, INC., A MISSISSIPPI CORPORATION

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the justices of the Supreme Court and/or the judges of the Court of Appeals may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal.

1)	Honorable Sanford R. Steckler	Chancery Court Judge of Harrison County

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- I. THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN DENYING JULVANNA'S MOTION TO ENFORCE THE JUDGMENT AND ORDER SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE OF THE AGREED JUDGMENT AND RELATED DOCUMENTS
- II. THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN AWARDING ECONOMY MONEY DAMAGES FOR BREACH OF CONTRACT WHEN THAT MATTER WAS NOT PROPERLY BEFORE THE COURT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case, Course of Proceedings, and Disposition in the Court Below

This case involves a contract dispute arising from a real estate transaction. Following the seller's refusal to complete the sale, the buyer brought a suit for specific performance before the Chancery Court of the Second Judicial District of Harrison County, Mississippi. Prior to trial, the parties reached a settlement which was reduced to an Agreed Judgment. The Agreed Judgment reaffirmed the original contract as modified by the terms of the judgment. Subsequent to the entry of the Agreed Judgment which ordered specific performance, as modified, the parties appeared to disagree about their respective duties under the Agreed Judgment. The seller filed a motion before the court to enforce the terms of the Agreed Judgment; specifically, the specific performance directed by the judgment. In response, the seller filed a putative motion to dismiss and a putative counter-claim together with its response to the motion. After a full hearing, the court entered its Order Denying Motion to Enforce Agreed Judgment, which did not order performance and awarded seller money damages (forfeiture of earnest money). It is from that order that appeal is made to this Honorable Court. Not only did the lower court deny the motion. but purported to, by the same presents, award money damages to the respondent pursuant to the original contract and the putative counter-claim.

* * * * *

On December 14, 2004, Appellant, Julvanna, LLC, (hereinafter "Julvanna"), entered into a contract to purchase the "Super 8 Motel and Suites" from Appellee Enconmy Inns, Inc. (hereinafter "Economy"). The property was located in Biloxi, or the Second Judicial District of Harrison County, Mississippi.

Within the time allowed for completing the sale, a dispute arose over a putative condition to the seller's obligation to sell the property. As the parties were unable to resolve their differences, Julvanna filed suit for specific performance of the contract in May, 2005. Julvanna amended its complaint in August, 2005, to add money damage and punitive damage claims. In response to both the original and first amended complaints, Economy filed counter-claims for rescission of the contract.¹

The matter was set for trial to begin on April 12, 2006. Hurricane Katrina struck the Mississippi Gulf Coast on August 29, 2005, and while this matter was pending before the Chancery Court, it is undisputed that improvements to the subject property sustained heavy damage.

By March 31, 2006, the parties had reached a settlement of the case and the court entered an Agreed Judgment. To that judgment and made a part thereof were the original Purchase and Sales Agreement of December 14, 2004, (Exhibit A), an unrelated ²"Purchase Agreement," (Exhibit B), and a Full and Final Mutual Release (Exhibit C). Additionally, the Agreed

Though ultimately resolved by the entry of Agreed Judgment, see *infra* 26 - 69, the allegations of the counter-claims are relevant to this Court's decision. Respectfully, the learned Chancellor made erroneous findings in the order now on appeal to this Court. See Order Denying Motion to Enforce Agreed Judgment at Findings of Fact ¶3 (R. E. 9, R. 291,) (erroneously finding that Economy counter-claimed for retention of the \$250,000.00 earnest money deposit), and Findings of Fact ¶6 (R. E. 10, R. 292,) (erroneously finding that Economy counter-claimed to retain the \$250,000.00 earnest money to the Amended Complaint).

² The December 14, 2004 Sale and Purchase Agreement that is the genesis of this matter pertained to two separate parcels of real estate which, for clarity's sake, will be herein referred to as the "Super 8 parcel" and the "Shapley parcel." Although the purchaser of the Shapley parcel intervened to affect a binding settlement in both this action and a separate action brought by the Shapley purchaser in another forum, the instant appeal relates only to the Super 8 parcel.

Judgment makes reference to "the Southern Construction Agreement and Lease".³ Because Julvanna appeals from the Chancery Court's order denying its motion to enforce the foregoing Agreed Judgment, interpretation of those documents is focal to this appeal.⁴

The Agreed Judgment resolved "all disputes between them arising out of the underlying transactions" R.E. 27, R. 128. That is where the current troubles began. Ultimately, the parties disagreed in their interpretation of the rights and duties of Julvanna and Economy pursuant to the terms of the Agreed Judgment, including those agreements referenced therein. Believing Economy to be in violation of the Agreed Judgment, including its direction for specific performance, ⁵ Julvanna filed its Motion to Enforce Agreed Judgment. R. E. 83 - 85, R. 184 - 186

Statement of Facts Relevant to the Issues Presented for Review

On December 14, 2004, Julvanna entered into a contract to buy the Super 8 Motel property from Economy. R. E. 31 - 44, R. 132 - 145. Among the relative terms of the agreement is Section 23.H. wherein Julvanna (Purchaser) acknowledged that Economy (Seller) *intended* to effect a Section 1031 exchange. R. E. 42, R. 143.

It later became apparent to Economy that it was not going to be able to affect a Section 1031 exchange after all and, on April 21, 2005, Economy attempted to repudiate the agreement by insinuating that obtaining the 1031 exchange was *a condition* to the contract. R. 18. Julvanna denied the assertion and demanded that Economy go forward, R. 19. Economy then

³ The Agreed Judgment with exhibits and the construction agreement appear in the record in sequence. R.E. 26 - 69, R. 127 - 170. Inexplicably annotated to the construction agreement is the footer legend, "Exhibit '3' – Response to Motion to Enforce". That motion appears later in the record. However, the construction agreement was entered into evidence at the hearing. R.E. 106 - 118.

⁴ As is discussed *infra*, the Agreed Judgment (1) expressly modifies certain specified terms of the original agreement; (2) reaffirms the original agreement to the extent not modified by the foregoing; and, (3) by its very essence, orders specific performance of the contract as modified.

⁵ As will be discussed *infra*, it is important to note the Agreed Judgment's provisions which specify performance remain under the jurisdiction of the issuing court pursuant to its inherent authority to enforce such performance.

baldly repudiated the agreement and invited litigation. R. 21. On May 18, 2005, Julvanna joined issue. R. 1.6

Economy answered the complaint and filed a counter-claim for rescission or termination of the contract. R. E. 127, R. 24 *et sequitur*. Economy did not request forfeiture of Julvanna's earnest money deposit. R. E. 135, R. 32. Julvanna was allowed to amend its complaint, R. 61 *et sequitur*, and Economy again filed a counter-claim; again *seeking only avoidance of the contract*. R. E. 148, R. 107.⁷

Subsequent events bear little on this appeal until March 31, 2006, when Julvanna and Economy, having settled their claims, agreed to the entry of a judgment of that date which, together with the documents exhibited to or referenced therein, reaffirmed all of the provisions of the original contract except those modified by the judgment. R.E. 26 – 69, R. 127 – 170. Per those modifications, as relevant to this controversy, it was adjudged that "Economy Inns, Inc. acknowledges that the purchase and sale agreement is full (sic) force and affect . . ." and "Economy will sell and Julvanna will purchase the Super 8 Motel . . . under the Purchase and Sales Agreement" R. E. 27, R. 123. The judgment further provided that the closing "shall occur within ninety (90) days of the written notice from Economy Inns of its request to close or no later than December 31, 2006." *Id.* The judgment recognized that Economy and Julvanna were to cooperate to affect a Section Section 1031 exchange, but Economy was not entitled to an extension of the December 31, 2006, deadline "on account of the Section 1031 exchange."

⁶ There is a scrivener's error in the clerk's papers, viz., two pages numbered "004." It not being necessary to this appeal to differentiate between those two pages, Record references will be to the numbers provided.

⁷ Prior to Economy filing its response to the amended complaint and its counter-claim, certain factors changed

⁷ Prior to Economy filing its response to the amended complaint and its counter-claim, certain factors changed dramatically with the landfall of Hurricane Katrina on August 29, 2005. It is undisputed that Super 8 received heavy damage as a result.

Id.⁸ The Agreed Judgment went further to address the effect of an agreement entered into by Economy Inns and Southern Construction Company.

Inapposite to the original Purchase and Sales Agreement of December 14, 2004, which, at Section 6, required Economy to convey "good, marketable and insurable fee simple title" to the Super 8 parcel free of all liens and encumbrances except for those listed therein, and during pendency of the underlying litigation, Economy entered into an agreement with Southern Construction Services both to construct improvements to the property but also granting Southern Construction Services a leasehold interest in the property. R. E. 106 – 118. That construction/lease agreement was in derogation of Economy's duties pursuant to the Purchase and Sales Agreement.

In the Agreed Judgment, however, the lower court effectively modified Section 6 to include the construction/lease agreement and further to provide that "Julvanna, LLC will take the Super 8 Motel property . . . subject to the rights and liabilities of Economy-Southern Construction Services, Inc. Construction Agreement and Lease (sic)." R. E. 28, R. 129.9 Moreover, and though it is less a modification than a clarification, the Agreed Judgment obligated Economy to obtain "from Southern Construction Services clarification of Section 4.3 of the Southern Construction Agreement and Lease" ¹⁰ Id.

While the Economy-Southern Construction agreement was purportedly entered into on December 7, 2005, the leasehold provisions of that agreement, pursuant to Section 7.1 thereof,

⁸ Nonetheless, it was contemplated that extensions were allowable for other reasons. See R. E. 23, R. 305 (wherein the lower court found that "such language anticipates the possibility of an extension of the closing date." R.E. 23, R. 305.

⁹ This is the same agreement entered into evidence as Exhibit 2 to the hearing on the motion to enforce Agreed Judgment. R.E. 8 - 25.

¹⁰ Section 4.3 of the Economy-Southern Construction Agreement required Economy and Southern Construction Services to "bear equally any additional costs in the construction, not covered by insurance, resulting from any law, ordinance, rule, or regulation that requires an improvement or modification in the building construction over the condition that existed on August 28, 2005." R. E. 58, R. 159. As will be discussed *infra* this provision becomes important in that the Super 8 franchisor imposed new requirements to maintain the franchise that would be subject to Section 4.3 of the agreement.

began on September 24, 2005. R. E. 59, R. – 160. Additionally, as noted in that agreement, possession of the leased premises was delivered to Southern Construction on September 25, 2005. *Id.* (Specifically, Section 7.5 of the Agreement).¹¹

Contemporaneous with Economy granting a leasehold interest to Southern Construction in derogation of the Purchase and Sales Agreement was the "offer" of Economy to resolve the litigation by allowing Julvanna to elect either of its remedies following damage or destruction of the *res*. Exh. 4. The so-called offer is, at best, disingenuous in that it purports to give Julvanna two weeks from September 23, 2005, to elect its remedy at the same time Economy had already committed itself to a leasehold interest in favor of Southern Construction Services. The so-called offer can, however, fairly be read as an attempt by Economy to improve its position in one of two ways: (1) obtain the original purchase price and assign what is now known to be grossly inadequate insurance proceeds¹² to the distinct economic disadvantage of Julvanna; or, (2) avoid the contract altogether and receive nearly \$40,000.00 per month in rent for 13 months, at the end of which Economy would have essentially a brand new structure. Julvanna was first notified of the existence of the Economy-Southern Construction Agreement, including the leasehold provisions thereof, on December 16, 2005.

One week later, Economy "offered" to impress the Economy-Southern Construction Agreement upon Julvanna. R. E. 123.

* * * * *

¹¹ The agreement clearly demonstrates that some type of leasehold interest in the Super 8 property was created in favor of Southern Construction Services on September 25, 2005, although the exact nature is not revealed in the record, However, Section 7.1 of the agreement brings that then-undefined leasehold interest under the terms of a thirteen-month tenancy. R. E. 59, R. 160.

¹² See, e.g. R. E. 123.

¹³ Interestingly, the prospect of a 1031 exchange, so important to Economy that it would breach the Purchase and Sales Agreement many months before, has fallen by the wayside in view of the potential windfall to Economy as the result of Hurricane Katrina.

¹⁴ Under the terms of the lease portion of Economy-Southern Construction agreement, Southern Construction was to pay rental significantly in advance of the due date thereby giving Economy the value of the interest on the decreasing balance; a significant sum.

No time for performance of the scope of work was stated under the Economy-Southern Construction Agreement See R. E. 56, R. 157. Although pursuant to the terms of the Agreed Judgment Julvanna was to take the property subject to the Economy-Southern Agreement, nonetheless, Julvanna was a stranger to the contract. Further, while the Agreed Judgment contemplated that, in the first instance, Economy would give 90 days written request to close (which request Economy could have made immediately following entry of the judgment), Economy waited until December 4, 2006 to request a closing less than 30 days away. (R. E. 93).

Perhaps more focal to Economy's motivation, franchisor Super 8 Motel, Inc. conducted an inspection of the subject property on or before November 9, 2006¹⁷ and prepared a punch list of items needed to convert the property to an authorized Super 8 motel. R. E. 119. This punch list, on its face prepared for Marty Desai for Economy, ¹⁸ viewed *in para materia* with Economy's request of December 4, 2006 to close on the subject property, reveal the true nature and impact of the statements (1) that "final repairs to the Super 8 should be completed before the end of the month," and (2) that Economy "does not intend to renew [the Super 8 Franchise Agreement]." R. E. 93.

Madhusudan "Marty" Desai is President of Economy. See, e.g. R. E. 42, R. 143.

Unlike the market-customary real estate contract which places the onus on the purchaser to close within a given time, the effect of the Agreed Judgment was to cast Economy as the master of the bargain, given that Economy could trigger Julvanna's obligation to purchase (or not) at virtually any time prior to December 31, 2006.
 Economy did, in that letter, agree to extend the closing into January, 2007. Further, although Section 10 of the Purchase and Sales Agreement (which section was still in full force and effect) clearly demonstrated the materiality of the Super 8 Franchise Agreement, the December 4, 2006, request by Economy to close the transaction Julvanna was the first notice to Julvanna that, not only had the franchise agreement been terminated (in derogation of the Purchase and Sales Agreement) but Economy boldly stated its intent not to renew the franchise agreement nowithstanding its obligations under the Purchase and Sales Agreement. R. E. 93.

Certain inferences bear mention. Although Economy was in the position to know when construction would be complete, and in inapposite to the spirit of the Agreed Judgment and the clear preference for ninety-days notice, Economy waited to the eleventh hour to push Julvanna to close. Unquestionably, that gave Economy the fullest benefit of the leasehold portion of the Economy-Southern Construction agreement at a time when the whole of this record suggests otherwise limited marketability.

Although apparent from the face of the punch list it was revised on December 26, 2006, nontheless it is equally apparent that the inspection and original punch list were prepared on or before November 9, 2006.

Locked in combat with Economy's mantra that it was ready to close pursuant to the Agreed Judgment and related documents, ¹⁹ is Julvanna's insistence that Economy comply *fully* with the terms of judgment and settlement to include suitability of the subject property to fly the Super 8 flag.²⁰ That combat was moved back to the Chancery Court by Julvanna in pursuit of enforcement of the court's Agreed Judgment. R. 184 – 185.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN DENYING JULVANNA'S MOTION TO ENFORCE THE JUDGMENT AND ORDER SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE OF THE AGREED JUDGMENT AND RELATED DOCUMENTS

In first reviewing the Agreed Judgment sought to be enforced, the court found the terms to be clear and unambiguous. Julvanna agrees. Further, the lower court correctly notes that conveyance of the property was to be by general warranty deed in an "as-is, where-is" condition. *Id.* However, Julvanna respectfully contends that the court overstates the effect of the *as-is*, where-is condition. Within the confines of real estate contracts, this condition exists in contrast to a seller's warranty of the condition of the property as free from latent defects.

Further, the Agreed Judgment itself does not contain an as-is, where-is condition; therefore, the condition to which the lower court makes reference is that same condition set out in the original contract. The terms of the original contract clearly state the effect of the condition as a disclaimer of seller's warranties with respect to the character of it as being free from defects.

The lower court was also correct in finding that Julvanna took the property subject to the Economy-Southern Construction Agreement. However, subsequent to the entry of the judgment and its incorporation of that construction agreement along with the original contract, Economy materially prejudiced the rights of Julvanna under those agreements. First, with respect to the

¹⁹ See Economy's letters of December 4, 2006, (R. E. 93), January 5, 2007 (R. E. 93), January 11, 2007 (R. E. 99), and January 24, 2007 (R. E. 102 - 103).

²⁰ See Julvanna's letters of December 22, 2006 (R. E. 94), January 8, 2007 (R. E. 97 - 98), January 11, (R. E. 99 - 100), January 18, (R. E. 101), February 1, 2007, (R. E. 104 - 105).

original contract, the clear intention of the parties was for seller to convey and purchaser to take the property and improvements subject to the franchise agreement. However, following the entry of the Agreed Judgment (and during the period of time when Economy had the unilateral right to request a closing), Economy rode the lease and then determined that the cost of performance was going to be higher than anticipated; and so refused to perform its obligations under the original contract which made the conveyance subject to the franchise agreement. Also, at a time when Economy was in control of the construction agreement and had the power to keep Julvanna from realizing the benefit of it, Economy changed the character of that construction agreement by declining to pursue and maintain Super 8 franchise status. In so doing, Economy obstructed the performance of the Agreed Judgment. A motion requiring Economy to specifically perform the terms as written and as contemplated at the time of entering the settlement was proper.

THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN AWARDING ECONOMY MONEY DAMAGES FOR BREACH OF CONTRACT WHEN THAT MATTER WAS NOT PROPERLY BEFORE THE COURT

Initially, if Julvanna was not required by the Agreed Judgment to purchase the property which had been significantly devalued by Economy in derogation of the express terms of the Agreed Judgment, then *ipso facto*, the lower court could not award Economy money damages in the form of forfeiture of the earnest money deposit. Moreover, that issue was not even property before the court.

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