IN THE SUPREME COURT FOR THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

JULVANNA, LLC

VS.

APPELLANT

CASE NO. 2007-CA-02226

ECONOMY INNS, INC., A MISSISSIPPI CORPORATION

APPELLEE

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

(ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED)

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLEE, ECONOMY INNS, INC.:

MICHAEL B. HOLLEMAN MHOLLEMANLAWFIRM@BELLSOUTH.NET HOLLEMAN LAW FIRM, PLLC 2004 24TH AVENUE (39501) P. O. BOX 1598 GULFPORT, MS 39502 (228) 868-0064 OFFICE (228) 868-0925 FACSIMILE

IN THE SUPREME COURT FOR THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

JULVANNA, LLC

APPELLANT

VS.

CASE NO. 2007-CA-02226

ECONOMY INNS, INC., A MISSISSIPPI CORPORATION

ł

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

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

foregoing, the Court finds the Motion to Enforce Settlement Agreement is without merit and should be denied.³³

It is unclear how the "warranty analysis" aids Julvanna in this appeal. While the "as is, where is" provision of the Purchase Agreement adds weight to the Chancellor's decision, there is no "operative" bond between these provisions and the SCSI Agreement. Julvanna was accepting a damaged property "as is, where is" and an assignment of the insurance proceeds and the SCSI Agreement, in lieu of the Super 8 that existed at the time of the original Purchase Agreement.

The SCSI Agreement replaced Julvanna's option under Paragraph 7 of the Purchase Agreement, in the event of disaster. Julvanna had the option to walk away after Katrina or close and accept the insurance proceeds. When Julvanna failed to select, Economy was forced to assign the insurance benefits as part of the SCSI Agreement. Then Economy gave Julvanna the option of walking away or closing and accepting the SCSI Agreement and insurance proceeds, subject to the SCSI Agreement. It was a much sweeter deal for Julvanna and if Julvanna had walked away, for Economy.

4. Julvanna is prohibited from advancing new claims on appeal

What Julvanna did not contend below and the Chancellor never decided are the issues that Julvanna advances for the first time in its brief. Julvanna now argues that the Franchise was a material provision of the Purchase Agreement and Economy was required to maintain the Franchise. Julvanna submits that Section 4.3 of the SCSI Agreement required that Economy refurbish the Super 8 to meet the new Quality Assurance standards imposed by the Franchisor. In other words, Julvanna contends that "law, ordinance, rule, or regulation" as used in Section

³³ Appellant R.E. 24.

4.3 refers to Franchisor's Quality Assurance standards.³⁴ How this analysis aids Julvanna's cause is unclear.

Not only were these issues not presented for the Chancellor's consideration, precluding consideration on appeal, they were conceded by Julvanna. "Because of judicial estoppel, a party cannot assume a position at one stage of a proceeding and then take a contrary stand later in the same litigation. *Banes v. Thompson*, 352 So.2d 812, 812 (Miss. 1977)." *Dockins v. Allred*, 849 So.2d 151, 155 (Miss. 2003) Furthermore, this Court does not consider issues raised for the first time on appeal. *Wilburn v. Wilburn*, 991 So.2d 1185, 1191 (Miss. 2008). Even if Julvanna were allowed to raise these issues for the first time in this appeal, the claims are without merit.

a. The Franchise was not a material provision of the Purchase Agreement, which Economy was required to maintain for Julvanna's benefit

In his January 8, 2007, letter, Julvanna's counsel conceded that Economy was not required to maintain the Franchise agreement, although it was claiming that Economy was required to reconstruct the Super 8 to be "franchise compliant with Super 8 QA standards B+". ³⁵ At trial, Julvanna *stipulated* that Economy was not required to deliver a Franchise.³⁶ Furthermore, Mr. Chang, the Julvanna Manager-Member, testified that Economy was not required to bring the Super 8 into compliance with the new Wyndham standards. ³⁷

³⁴ Brief of Appellant, p. 14.

³⁵ Wetzel Letter, 1-8-07, Trial Exhibit 1, Appellee R.E. 106-107, 107.

³⁶ Tr. T. Vol. I, pp. 127-128.

³⁷ Tr. T. Vol. I., p. 94; Exhibit 4, Appellee R. E. 152-157.

b. The plain meaning of Section 4.3 limits its scope to increased costs from governmental regulations

Not only is Section 4.3 of the SCSI Agreement clearly limited to increased costs from governmental regulation, Julvanna insisted, as part of the settlement, that it be made clear that this provision applied to increased costs resulting only from "any local ordinance, law or regulation *which may be required by the City Building officials*". (Emphasis Added)³⁸ Furthermore, even if Section 4.3 applied to increased costs caused by the Franchisor, it is clear that *this was Julvanna's burden* under the Agreed Judgment. Obviously, that is why Julvanna needed clarification.

Julvanna ultimately stipulated that it stood in the shoes of Economy, with respect to the SCSI's performance of the SCSI Agreement. Mr. Wetzel: "Now, if Southern Construction doesn't do their job -- I agree with you, Judge, we stand [in] the shoes of Economy Inn."³⁹

5. Julvanna failed to prove that it was at all times "ready, willing and able to perform"

In addition to refusing to close, without demand that Economy own obligations that were not a part of the Agreed Judgment,⁴⁰ Julvanna failed to prove that it was financially "ready, willing and able" to close. Even if Economy was required to meet its demands, Julvanna was required to prove, as an element of a claim for specific performance, that it was *at all times* "ready, willing and able" to perform.

e de la composición d

³⁸ Wetzel Letter, February 7, 2006. Trial Exhibit 5, Appellee R.E. pp 159-160.

³⁹ Tr. T. Vol. II, p. 169.

⁴⁰ Order Denying Motion to Enforce, Para. 28, p. 17, Clerk's Papers, R. Vol. III, p. 306, Appellant R.E. 24.

Specific performance is an equitable remedy that is applied with caution. While the remedy is available to a prospective purchaser under a real estate contract, the purchaser must prove all of the elements of the claim. Julvanna must prove a breach or anticipatory breach of contract by Economy and that Julvanna was at all times and is "ready, willing and able" to perform. On this element, Julvanna only offered testimony that Julvanna was "ready, willing and able" to perform thirty (30) days after a judgment.

- Q. If the court were to order that this matter be closed in 30 days, would you be able to fund the \$5,000,000?
 - A. Yes, Sir.
 - Q. Do you have any problem at all with funding that?
 - A. No, sir. 41

While this proof is required, it is not sufficient. A vendee seeking to enforce a real estate sales contract is not required to make a formal tender of the purchase money, if the evidence shows that it would not have been accepted, but is required to show that he was *at all times* ready, able and willing to pay the purchase price. *Cooley v. Stevens*, 240 Miss. 581, 592 (Miss. 1961); *Lauchly v. Shurley*, 217 Miss. 728, 732 (Miss. 1953).

It is important to recognize that in seeking specific performance, the plaintiff invoked the equitable powers vested in the trial court. "[A]n action for specific performance of a contract to sell real estate is an equitable action and is to be determined by equitable principles." *Morris v. Costa*, 174 Conn. 592, 599, 392 A.2d 468 (1978); *Parkway Trailer Sales, Inc. v. Wooldridge Bros., Inc.*, 148 Conn. 21, 25, 166 A.2d 710 (1960). ****As already noted, the plaintiff alleged in his complaint that he was "at all times . . . ready, willing and able to perform" his obligations under the agreement. "In order to be awarded specific performance, the plaintiff had the burden of proving that *he was ready, willing and able at all times* to purchase the property".

⁴¹ Tr. T., Vol. I, pp. 80-81.

Eastern Consolidators, Inc. v. W. L. McAviney Properties, Inc., 159 Conn. 510, 510-11, 271 A.2d 59 (1970)." Allen v. Nissley, 184 Conn. 539, 542, 440 A.2d 231 (1981). The plaintiff must meet this burden even in a situation where the defendant-seller indicates her refusal to participate in any closing. See, e.g., Allen v. Nissley, supra, 540-42. ******

It has been stated that when a purchaser of land is left to depend upon a purchase price loan from a third party who is in no way bound to furnish such funds, the purchaser cannot be considered to be able to perform so as to be entitled to specific performance. [Cites omitted] The Wisconsin Supreme Court, in discussing an "able" buyer in a case for a broker's commission, stated: "The authorities outside Wisconsin uniformly hold the word 'able' includes a reference to financial ability not only to make the initial payment required to meet the terms of the seller, but also to complete the contract of purchase according to its terms. A proposed purchaser cannot be said to be able to purchase when he is dependent upon third parties who are in no way bound to furnish the funds." [Cites Omitted]

Frumento v. Mezzanotte, 192 Conn. 606, 615-618 (Conn. 1984) (Emphasis Added).

Here, Julvanna did not attempt to prove that it was *at all times* ready, willing and able to perform under the contract. To allow a buyer to sue for specific performance and only require that he prove that he is ready, willing and able at the time of trial to perform or 30 days later would confer a valuable property right on the buyer, tantamount to a free option of undetermined length, during which property prices could increase in value or a prospective second purchaser could be found to pay the purchase price. Thus, the reason behind the rule. Julvanna wholly failed to meet this burden.

The terms of the Purchase Agreement, as modified by the Agreed Judgment, are clear and unambiguous. Julvanna was required to take the property "as is, where is", subject to the rights and liabilities of the SCSI Agreement. The Agreed Judgment is clear that Julvanna assumed any risks of non-performance by SCSI, if there were any deficiencies, and assumed any additional liabilities under the SCSI Agreement. Julvanna stood in Economy's shoes. Even if Julvanna's interpretation of the Purchase Agreement, as modified by the Agreed Judgment, were correct, Julvanna wholly *failed to present any proof* that the Super 8, as reconstructed, did not meet the standards of the SCSI Agreement, i.e., to place it in the same condition as existed on August 28, 2005. Specifically, there was no proof of the condition of Super 8 on August 28, 2005, nor was there any proof of what "Super 8 QA standards B+" were at any point in time, including the day before Katrina. The only witness in the trial, Mr. Chang, testified that he was unfamiliar with the condition of the Super 8 before Katrina and "Super 8 QA standards B+".

This Court should affirm the Chancellor's ruling on the Motion to Enforce.

B. THE CHANCELLOR PROPERLY AWARDED ECONOMY THE EARNEST MONEY DEPOSIT, WHEN JULVANNA REFUSED TO CLOSE WITHOUT IMPOSING DEMANDS TO WHICH IT WAS NOT ENTITLED UNDER THE AGREED JUDGMENT

1. The Motion to Enforce the Agreed Judgment was a Motion for Specific Performance

It is clear that the Motion to Enforce was a claim for specific performance of the settlement agreement. A settlement agreement is enforceable as with any contract and the same rules apply. *Tupelo Redevelopment Agency v. Abernathy*, 913 So. 2d 278 (Miss. 2005) While the Agreed Judgment modified the Purchase Agreement and thus became part of a new contract to be enforced, all of the terms of the judgment, which could be enforced by motion, had been met.

The Agreed Judgment required (1) Julvanna pay to Shapley Development (in connection with the Biloxi Beach Campground) \$137,027.38; and (2) Julvanna, Economy and Shapley execute a mutual release of claims and (3) Orders of Dismissal in the pending actions "and then

the terms of this settlement are satisfied". What was left was a contract, as modified by the Agreed Judgment. The proper procedure for enforcing that contract was by a new complaint alleging the elements of a claim for specific performance.

Julvanna did not file a new action, but instead couched its claim for specific performance as a Motion to Enforce the Agreed Judgment. Economy filed a Motion to Dismiss⁴² on this ground, contending that the claim was under contract for specific performance and required pleading and proof of the elements of specific performance such as, *inter alia*, that Julvanna was "ready, willing and able to perform". With the Motion to Dismiss, Economy filed its Response to the Motion to Enforce and a Counter-Claim, seeking award of the earnest money deposit. Julvanna failed to file any response to the Motion to Dismiss or Counter-Claim.

On Economy's counter-claim, the Chancellor awarded Economy the \$250,000.00 in earnest money, which had been deposited pursuant to the Purchase Agreement. In this appeal, Julvanna asserts *for the first time* that the Chancellor could not reach the counter-claim because "[t]here is no statute, no rule, and no case that would allow Economy to bring forth a motion to dismiss a motion to enforce a judgment as though it were a new, substantive claim for relied". (Brief of Appellant, p. 15) Julvanna *does not* attack the correctness of the ruling or the reasonableness of the award, only the right of Economy to file and/or the power of the Court to hear the counter-claim.

Not unlike the other *de novo* assertions, Julvanna did not assert this defense in the lower Court. Even without this waiver, the claim is without merit.

⁴² Appellee R.E. 1-67.

2. Economy was compelled to file its Counter-Claim for the earnest money deposit

Economy's breach of contract claim was a compulsory counter-claim to Julvanna's action for specific performance. Copiah Medical Associates v. Mississippi Baptist Health Systems, 898 So.2d 656 (Miss. 2005).

M.R.C.P. 13(a) requires a party to

state as a counterclaim any claim which at the time of serving the pleading the pleader has against any opposing party if it arises out of the transaction or occurrence that is the subject matter of the opposing party's claim and does not require for its adjudication the presence of third parties over whom the court cannot acquire jurisdiction.

The Mississippi Supreme Court has applied a four-prong test to determine the connection

of a claim to a counterclaim:

(1) Whether the same evidence or witnesses are relevant to both claims;

(2) Whether the issues of law and fact in the counterclaim are largely the same as those in the plaintiff's claim;

(3) Whether, if the counterclaim were asserted in a later lawsuit, it would be barred by res judicata;

(4) Whether or not both claims are based on a "common nucleus of operative fact"

Scruggs, Millette, Bozeman & Dent, P.A. v. Merkel & Cocke, P.A., 804 So.2d 1000, $1004(\P 5)$ (Miss.2001) (citing Fulgham v. Snell, 548 So.2d 1320, 1322-23 (Miss.1989) (citing Robertson, Joinder of Claims and Parties-Rule 13, 14, 17, and 18, 52 Miss. L.J. 47, 48-63 (1982))). We have further stated:

In applying the four-prong test stated in *Fulgham*, the logical relationship test is used to determine whether a claim and counterclaim arise from the same transaction or occurrence such that a counterclaim is compulsory; it exists when the same operative facts serve as the basis of both claims or the aggregate core of facts upon which the claim rests activates additional legal rights, otherwise dormant. *See American Bankers Ins. Co. v. Alexander*, 2001 WL 83952, [818] So.2d [1073] (Miss.2001).

Reid ex rel. Reid v. Am. Premier Ins. Co., 814 So.2d 141, 146 (¶ 21) (Miss.2002).

Copiah Medical Associates v. Mississippi Baptist Health Systems, 898 So.2d 656, 661 - 662 (Miss. 2005).

3. Julvanna's defense on appeal, i. e., that the counter-claim was not appropriate in response to the Motion to Enforce was waived by failure to raise it in the lower court

Julvanna did not file any pleadings in response to the counter-claim and never asserted the defense at trial that "[t]here is no statute, no rule, and no case that would allow Economy to bring forth a motion to dismiss a motion to enforce a judgment as though it were a new, substantive claim for relied". Since the defense was not raised or decided in the lower court, it cannot be raised for the first time in this appeal. "Failure to raise an issue in a trial court procedurally bars the issue on appeal." *Daniels v. Bains*, 967 So.2d 77, 81 (Miss.Ct.App. 2007).

This Court finds that Chasity's "Motion for Reconsideration" was untimely. However, there is no evidence in the record that William either objected or responded to Chasity's "Motion for Reconsideration." The Mississippi Court of Appeals addressed a similar issue in *Scally v. Scally*, 802 So.2d 128 (Miss.Ct.App.2001), stating:

[t]his Court does not review matters on appeal that were not first raised at the trial level. Shaw v. Shaw, 603 So.2d 287, 292 (Miss.1992). Before an issue can be presented to this Court, it must first be presented to the trial court. This is done by an objection. Queen v. Queen, 551 So.2d 197, 201 (Miss.1989). A timely objection brings the issue to the court's attention, and gives it the opportunity to address the issue. Kettle v. State, 641 So.2d 746, 748 (Miss.1994).

Scally, 802 So.2d at 132. Based upon that same reasoning, this Court concludes that William is procedurally barred from raising this issue for the first time on appeal.

Wilburn v. Wilburn, 991 So.2d 1185, 1191 (Miss. 2008).

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